Collective Agreement

between

The Main Street Project Incorporated

and

Manitoba Government and General Employees' Union Local 136

April 1, 2019 to March 31, 2026

Table of Contents

Preamble.		1
Article 1	Definitions	1
Article 2	Recognition and Scope of Bargaining Unit	3
Article 3	Notice to Commence Collective Bargaining Revision Renewal	
Article 4	Membership and Union Security	5
Article 5	Union Business	5
Article 6	Management Rights	7
Article 7	Grievance Procedure and Arbitration Procedure	7
Article 8	Harassment and Non-Discrimination	10
Article 9	Discipline	11
Article 10	Abandonment of Position	11
Article 11	Employee Files	12
Article 12	Seniority	12
Article 13	Layoff and Recall	14
Article 14	Vacation	16
Article 15	Sick Leave	21
Article 16	Medical Fitness	26
Article 17	Bereavement Leave	26
Article 18	Parenting Leave	27
Article 19	Court Leave	30
Article 20	Recognized Holidays	30
Article 21	Shift, Work Days and Work Weeks	31
Article 22	Overtime	35
Article 23	Duration of Agreement	37
Article 24	Pay Plan	37
Article 25	Job Classification	38
Article 26	Acting Status	38
Article 27	Pension Plan	38
Article 28	Benefits Plan	38

Article 29	Employee Assistance Program	39
Article 30	Labour Management Committee	39
Article 31	Workplace Safety and Health Committee	40
Article 32	Shift and Weekend Premium	40
Article 33	Recruitment	41
Article 34	Responsibility Pay	43
Article 35	Coverage for Incidental Costs	43
Article 36	Special Provisions for Part-time Employees	43
Article 37	Term Positions	45
Article 38	Term Employees	47
Article 39	Overpayment	48
Article 40	Civil Liability Indemnification	48
Article 41	Time Off Requests	49
Article 42	Leave of Absence	50
Memorand	um of Understanding	52
Re:Use	of Volunteers	
Memorand	um of Understanding	. 53
Re:Em	ergency Disaster and Fire Plans	
Memorand	um of Understanding	.55
Re:Nui		
Memorand	um of Understanding	.57
Re:12 I	Hour Shifts - Nurses	
Memorand	um of Understanding	. 59
	ff Volunteers	
Memorand	um of Understanding	61
Re:Pers	sonal Time	
Memorand	um of Understanding	62
	r Advocates	

Appendix "A" - Pay Plan	s	63
Appendix "B"	•••••	69
	*All changes appear in bold .	

Alphabetical Table of Contents

Preamble		1
Article 10	Abandonment of Position	11
Article 26	Acting Status	38
Article 28	Benefits Plan	38
Article 17	Bereavement Leave	26
Article 40	Civil Liability Indemnification	48
Article 19	Court Leave	
Article 35	Coverage for Incidental Costs	43
Article 1	Definitions	1
Article 9	Discipline	11
Article 23	Duration of Agreement	36
Article 29	Employee Assistance Program	39
Article 11	Employee Files	12
Article 7	Grievance Procedure and Arbitration Procedure	7
Article 8	Harassment and Non-Discrimination	10
Article 25	Job Classification	37
Article 30	Labour Management Committee	39
Article 13	Layoff and Recall	14
Article 42	Leave of Absence	49
Article 6	Management Rights	7
Article 16	Medical Fitness	26
Article 4	Membership and Union Security	5
Article 3	Notice to Commence Collective Bargaining Revisi Renewal	
Article 39	Overpayment	47
Article 22	Overtime	34
Article 18	Parenting Leave	27
Article 24	Pay Plan	37
Article 27	Pension Plan	38
Article 2	Recognition and Scope of Bargaining Unit	3

Article 20	Recognized Holidays	30
Article 33	Recruitment	41
Article 34	Responsibility Pay	42
Article 12	Seniority	12
Article 32	Shift and Weekend Premium	40
Article 21	Shift, Work Days and Work Weeks	31
Article 15	Sick Leave	21
Article 36	Special Provisions for Part-time Employees	43
Article 38	Term Employees	46
Article 37	Term Positions	45
Article 41	Time Off Requests	49
Article 5	Union Business	5
Article 14	Vacation	16
Article 31	Workplace Safety and Health Committee	40
Memorandu	ım of Understanding	51
Re:Use	of Volunteers	
Memorandu	ım of Understanding	52
Re:Eme	rgency Disaster and Fire Plans	
Memorandu	ım of Understanding	53
Re:Nurs		
Memorandu	ım of Understanding	55
	our Shifts	
Memorandu	ım of Understanding	57
	Volunteers	
	ım of Understanding	58
	onal Time	
		ĘΛ
	ım of Understanding Advocates	39
Ke.Feer	AUVOCATES	

Appendix "A"Pay Plans	60
Appendix "B"	66

*All changes appear in bold

Preamble

The purpose of the Collective Agreement between the Union and the Employer is to establish and maintain rates of pay; hours of work; other working conditions and conditions of employment and to provide appropriate procedures for the prompt resolution of grievances and problems and to recognize the mutual value of joint discussion, meaningful consultation and negotiations.

It is acknowledged that the operation of the Main Street Project is dependent on funding from a variety of public sector and charitable sources, and that as a non-profit organization these issues must be taken into account in any comparison with other Employers.

Article 1 Definitions

- 1:01 "Employee" means a person employed in a position in the bargaining unit and includes the following:
 - (a) "Full-time" employee means an employee who on a regular and recurring basis works the full prescribed hours of work specified in Article 21.
 - (b) "Part-time" employee means an employee who on a regular and recurring basis works less than the full prescribed hours of work specified in Article 21.
 - (c) "Probationary Employee", for full-time employees the period from the date of last employment to the completion of three (3) calendar months of service will constitute an employee's probationary period. The probationary period may be extended for an additional period of three (3) months. The probationary period shall not exceed six (6) months total. For part-time employees the period of time from the date of last employment to the completion of the accumulation of four hundred and eighty (480) hours or five (5) calendar months of service, whichever comes first, will constitute an employees' probationary period. The probationary period may be extended for an

equivalent amount of time. The terms of this Agreement shall apply to the probationary employee except that such employee may be terminated by the Employer without having recourse to the grievance procedure.

- **1:02 "Casual** Worker" means a person called occasionally by the Employer to supplement regular staff coverage or to replace an absent employee. The terms of this Agreement shall not apply to the **casual** worker, except as is specified in Appendix "B".
- 1:03 "Grant Employee" means a person who is hired to work on a specific project until completion of that project or for a specific period of time as determined by a grant from a third party for training/and or make work projects. The terms of this Agreement shall not apply to the grant employee. Grant employees shall not be used to displace existing bargaining unit employees.
- 1:04 "Union" means the Manitoba Government and General Employees' Union.
- 1:05 "Authorized Overtime" means overtime authorized by the Employer and where the term "overtime" is used in this Agreement, it shall mean "authorized overtime".
- 1:06 "Promotion" means a change of employment from one in scope position to another in scope position having a higher maximum salary.
- 1:07 "Transfer" means the removal of an employee from an in scope position and appointing them to another in scope position in the same classification or to another position in a different classification having the same maximum rate of pay.
- 1:08 "Layoff" means to remove from a position of employment with the Project due to shortage of work or shortage of funds, subject to the employee retaining such rights as set out under this Agreement.

- 1:09 "Annual Increment" means an increase in the rate of pay of an employee, within the employee's pay range, which may be granted in recognition of satisfactory service in accordance with 24:03.
- 1:10 Gender neutral language shall be used throughout this Agreement.

 Where the singular or plural form is used in this Agreement it may be deemed to mean the plural or singular where the context requires.
- 1:11 Whenever the word "spouse" is used in the collective agreement or the benefit plans contained therein, it shall include partners.

Article 2 Recognition and Scope of Bargaining Unit

2:01 The Employer recognizes the Union as the sole and exclusive bargaining agent for all employees except the Executive Director, Directors,

Managers, Administrative Coordinators, Specialists, Program

Coordinators, Schedulers and Peer Advocates.

Classifications may be added to or deleted from the exclusion listing above by mutual agreement between the parties. Where agreement cannot be reached the matter shall be referred to the Manitoba Labour Board by either party.

Where new classifications are to be introduced, the Employer agrees to enter into negotiations with the Union for the purpose of establishing appropriate salary schedules. Where agreement cannot be reached on an appropriate salary, the matter shall be referred to arbitration in accordance with Article 7.

2:02 Benefits for part-time employees shall be pro-rated on the basis of hours worked unless otherwise specified.

Article 3 Notice to Commence Collective Bargaining Revision and Renewal

- 3:01 Should either party desire to propose changes to this Agreement, they shall give notice in writing, to the other party not more than ninety (90) calendar days and not less than thirty (30) calendar days prior to the date of termination. Within thirty (30) calendar days of the receipt of proposals, the other party shall be required to enter into negotiations and make every reasonable effort to conclude a renewal or a revision and renewal of the Collective Agreement or a new Collective Agreement. Such time limit may be extended with mutual agreement.
- 3:02 This Agreement may be amended during its term by mutual agreement.
- 3:03 It is agreed that neither the Union nor the Employer shall sanction or consent to any strike or lockout during the term of this Agreement and further no employee in the unit shall strike during the term of this Agreement.
- 3:04 (a) The Union agrees to give the Employer at least two (2) weeks (fourteen [14] days) written notice as to the intended time and date of strike action.
 - (b) The Employer agrees to give the Union at least two (2) weeks (fourteen [14] days) written notice as to the intended time and date of lockout.
- 3:05 For time spent with Employer representatives during negotiations of the Agreement, the Union will be allowed to have up to two (2) employees present without loss of pay or benefits at each bargaining session. Additional employees who may be included in said negotiation sessions, subject to mutual agreement, shall be on a wage recovery basis from the Union.

Article 4 Membership and Union Security

- 4:01 The Employer agrees to deduct from each employee, the amount of regular bi-weekly dues payable to the Union and remit same within fifteen (15) days following the end of the month in which the dues were deducted to the Union, 601-275 Broadway, Winnipeg, Manitoba. Full dues shall be deducted from new employees on the first pay period following initial date of hiring by the Employer.
- 4:02 The Union shall notify the Employer in writing of any change in the amount of dues at least one (1) month in advance of the end of the pay period in which deductions are to be made; however, such change shall not be made more frequently than once in a twelve (12) month period. Except in the case of a strike or lockout in which case the advance notice period shall be reduced to two (2) weeks and the frequency will be allowed not to exceed three times in a twelve (12) month period.
- 4:03 The Union shall hold the Employer harmless with respect to all dues so deducted and remitted and with respect to any liability which the Employer may incur as a result of such deductions, except for any claim or liability arising out of an error on the part of the Employer.

Article 5 Union Business

- 5:01 Leave of absence to attend to Union business shall be granted to employees based on the following conditions:
 - (a) Requests for such leave shall be made in writing by the Union with at least fourteen (14) calendar days advance notice and shall be granted only where operational requirements permit. Where special or unusual circumstances prevent compliance with the fourteen (14) calendar days notice the request shall be considered and not unreasonably denied.
 - (b) An employee requesting time off for Union business will be provided with a letter of request from the Union which is to be submitted to

- the employee's immediate supervisor for approval by the Executive Director or designate.
- (c) Where such leave of absence has been granted by the Employer under sub-section (a), the Union shall reimburse the Employer one hundred and eighteen percent (118%) of the wages paid to such employees during the approved absence.
- (d) Grievors and their representatives shall suffer no loss of regular pay when meeting with the Employer for the purpose of processing grievances.
- (e) Unless otherwise specified in this Agreement, employees shall be expected to conduct Union business before or after working hours, or during rest or meal breaks.
- (f) Subject to 5:01(e) above, if impossible to do so, the Union Steward may be entitled to leave their work during working hours in order to carry out their functions under the collective agreement which involves the investigation and processing of grievances providing that each employee involved in the issue has obtained approval from the Manager or designate for the time required. Reasonable advance notice will be provided where the Steward has themselves received advance notice. Permission to leave work duties during working hours will be subject to operational requirements. Permission shall not be unreasonably sought or withheld.
- (g) Leaves of absence for Union business shall not be unreasonably requested nor unreasonably denied.
- (h) The Union shall provide the Employer with a current list of local table officers, stewards and assigned staff representative and to notify the Employer of any subsequent changes in Union representation.

- When a new employee is hired, the Union shall be notified and provided with no less than fifteen (15) minutes during normal working hours to meet with the new employee for the purpose of acquainting **them** with the Union.
- 5:03 The Employer agrees to make a bulletin board available at each of its work locations for the use of the Union, in a place which is accessible to Union members for the purpose of posting notices and material of interest.

Posted materials shall not contain anything that is adverse to the interests of the Employer.

Article 6 Management Rights

- 6:01 The Union recognizes the sole and executive right of the Employer, unless otherwise provided in this Agreement, to exercise its function of management under which it shall have, among others, the right to maintain efficiency and quality of service, the right to direct the work of its employees, the right to hire, classify, assign to positions and promote; the right to determine job content and the number of employees in a unit; the right to demote, discipline, suspend, layoff and discharge for cause; the right to make, alter and enforce reasonable rules and regulations and the right to sub-contract work as required.
- 6:02 In administering this Agreement, the Employer shall act reasonably, fairly, in good faith, and in a manner consistent with the Agreement as a whole.

Article 7 Grievance Procedure and Arbitration Procedure

- 7:01 (a) "Representative" means the following:
 - (i) Staff member of the Union,
 - (ii) Union Steward,
 - (iii) Officer of the Local, as last indicated by the Union in writing to the Employer.

- (b) "Grievance" means a dispute submitted in writing, between the Union, an employee, or a group of employees and the Employer regarding the application, interpretation or alleged violation of this Agreement.
- 7:02 Prior to the submission of a written grievance an effort shall be made to resolve the dispute through discussion between the employee and **their** immediate supervisor outside the bargaining unit. The employee, if **they** desire, may be accompanied by a representative of **their** choice.

7:03 <u>Step One - Discussion Stage</u>

Within fourteen (14) calendar days of the occurrence of the grievance, the grievor shall attempt to resolve the dispute with **their** immediate supervisor who is outside the bargaining unit. If the conduct of the immediate supervisor is the subject of the grievance, the grievor shall proceed to Step Two by submitting the grievance to the Executive Director or **their** designate.

7:04 <u>Step Two</u>

If the grievance is not resolved at Step One within ten (10) calendar days following submission, the Union may within the ensuing ten (10) calendar days submit the grievance to the Executive Director. The Executive Director shall, within ten (10) calendar days after receipt of the grievance, render a decision.

An employee claiming to have been suspended or discharged without just cause may submit the grievance directly to the Executive Director

7:05 The time limits fixed in the grievance procedure may be extended by the mutual written consent of the Employer and the Union. For purposes of determining the lengths of time referenced within this article, Saturdays, Sundays and recognized holidays are excluded.

- 7:06 Where the decision of the Executive Director is unsatisfactory to the grievor or the Union, the grievance may, within ten (10) calendar days from the date the reply was received from the Executive Director, be referred to an Arbitration Board and proceeded with in the following manner:
 - (a) The Union shall, in writing to the Executive Director of the Employer, state that the matter in dispute is to be proceeded with to Arbitration and also in the letter state the name of the Union's appointee to the Arbitration Board.
 - (b) Within ten (10) calendar days of receipt of the letter as provided in (a) above, the Employer shall notify the Union in writing of the Employer's appointee to the Arbitration Board.
 - (c) Within ten (10) calendar days of receipt of the letter as provided in (b) above, the two appointees shall select a third member who shall be the Chairperson of the Arbitration Board and shall without delay, notify the Union and the Employer of the name of the Chairperson.
 - (d) If, in the event either party fails to appoint an appointee, or if the two appointees fail to agree upon a third member within the applicable time limits, at the written request of either party, the appointment(s) shall be made by the Minister of Labour, Province of Manitoba.
 - (e) The Arbitration Board or Sole Arbitrator shall not be empowered to make any decision inconsistent with the provisions of this agreement, or modify or amend any portion of this agreement.
 - (f) Without undue delay, following the appointment of the Chairman, the Board shall commence hearings and shall hear evidence and argument submitted by or on behalf of the parties relevant to the matter submitted.
 - (g) Without undue delay the Board shall render its decision and reasons in writing to the Union and the Employer.

- (h) The decision of the majority shall be the decision of the Board and such decision shall be final and binding on both parties. Where there is no majority decision the decision of the Chairman shall be the decision of the Board.
- (i) Each party shall bear the expenses of their appointee to the Board and shall bear equally the expenses of the Chairperson of the Board.
- 7:07 Nothing herein shall prohibit the parties from agreeing on a single arbitrator within the time requirement of 7:06 (b). If the parties so agree, the provisions of this Article relating to an arbitration board shall apply, "mutatis mutandis", to the single arbitrator.

Article 8 Harassment and Non-Discrimination

8:01 The Employer and the Union jointly affirm that every employee is entitled to a respectful workplace, which is free from discrimination and harassment.

The definition of harassment shall consist of the definition contained in the Human Rights Code.

The Employer shall implement and maintain a Respectful Workplace Policy. A copy of the policy shall be provided to all Employees.

- 8:02 The parties agree that there shall be no discrimination based on:
 - Ancestry, including colour and perceived race
 - Ethnic background or origin
 - Age
 - Nationality or national origin
 - Political belief, association or activity
 - Religion or creed
 - Sex, including pregnancy
 - Marital status or family status
 - Sexual orientation
 - Physical or mental disability

- Place of residence
- Membership or non-membership or activity in the union
- Gender identity
- Source of Income
- Social Disadvantage,

Except as may be allowed under the Manitoba Human Rights Code.

8:03 The parties agree that there shall be no form of harassment condoned in the workplace and it is further agreed that both parties will work together in recognizing and dealing with such problems, should they arise. The Employer, the Union and the employee(s) shall treat situations involving harassment in a confidential manner.

Article 9 Discipline

- **9:01** No employee shall be discharged, suspended or otherwise disciplined without just cause.
- 9:02 In instances where the Employer determines that an employee warrants disciplinary action, the Employer shall make every effort to take such action at a meeting with the employee and, when possible, shall give the employee advance notice of the nature of the complaint. The employee may choose to be accompanied by a Union representative.
- 9:03 If the action referred to in the above clause results in a written warning, suspension, or dismissal, the Employer shall notify the employee in writing of the action taken and the reasons, either by registered mail or personal service.

Article 10 Abandonment of Position

10:01 Where an employee is absent from work without leave for five (5) consecutive shifts or two (2) calendar weeks from the first shift missed (whichever comes first) without a valid and acceptable reason, they shall be deemed to have terminated employment on the last day on which they were present at work and performed their regular duties.

Article 11 Employee Files

- 11:01 An employee shall be given the opportunity to examine any document expressing dissatisfaction with **their** performance or conduct which is placed in **their** file, and **their** reply to any such document shall also be placed in **their** file. An employee shall be required to sign a receipt indicating that **they have** seen or been given copies of evaluations, warnings or other such documents relating to **their** performance and conduct.
- 11:02 Upon written request and at a mutually agreeable time at the site of employment within 10 days of making a request, an employee, accompanied by a Union Representative, if **they** so elect, may examine **their** employee file. An employee shall have the right to make copies of any documents contained in **their** employee file.
- 11:03 An employee shall have the right to request the removal and destruction of any documents pertaining to disciplinary action contained in the employee's personnel file after two (2) years from the date such action was taken. Such request shall be made in writing. Provided there has been no re-occurrence of the same or similar nature, the Employer agrees to consider the request and will render a decision in writing within thirty (30) days from the date the request was made. This provision is not applicable to Performance Appraisals.

Article 12 Seniority

- 12:01 Seniority means the length of service in the bargaining unit and shall include service with the Employer prior to the certification of the Union. For the purpose of calculation, seniority shall accumulate based upon total regular hours paid to an employee since the last date of employment.
- 12:02 The Employer shall maintain a seniority list showing the date upon which each employee's service commenced and the total regular hours paid. An up-to-date seniority list shall be sent to the Union and posted on all bulletin boards in January and July of each year.

12:03 No employee shall be transferred to a position outside the bargaining unit without **their** consent.

12:04 Seniority shall include:

- (a) Total regular paid hours.
- (b) Paid leave of absence.
- (c) Paid income protection.
- (d) Unpaid leave of absence up to four (4) weeks.

12:05 Seniority will terminate if an employee:

- (a) Resigns;
- (b) Is discharged for just cause and not reinstated under the grievance or arbitration procedure;
- (c) Is laid off and fails to report for duty once recalled as per Article 13;
- (d) Is laid off for more than twenty four (24) months;
- (e) Fails to report for work as scheduled at the end of an approved leave of absence, suspension, or vacation, without an explanation satisfactory to the Employer;
- (f) Is promoted or transferred out of the bargaining unit and has completed the trial period in the new position;
- (g) Is absent for five (5) consecutive work days and does not provide the Employer with an acceptable explanation unless said absence is overturned via the arbitration procedure.

12:06 Seniority will continue to accrue if an employee:

- (a) Is on any period of paid leave of absence;
- (b) Is on any period of paid income protection;
- (c) Is on any period of paid vacation;

- (d) Is on any period of unpaid leave of absence up to four (4) consecutive weeks except those referenced in 12:06 (e);
- (e) Is on an unpaid leave of absence due to injury or illness which may be compensable by Workers Compensation, MPI or LTD for a period of up to two (2) years from the date of the first absence from work related to the injury or illness;
- (f) Is on parenting leave;
- (g) Is assigned to temporarily relieve or replace an employee in an out of scope position;
- (h) Is on an educational leave of absence up to two (2) years.
- **12:07** Seniority will be retained but will not accrue if an employee:
 - (a) Is on any unpaid leave of absence in excess of four (4) consecutive weeks; except those referenced in Article 12:07 (b);
 - (b) Is on an unpaid leave of absence due to injury or illness which may be compensable by Workers Compensation, MPI or LTD for a period of more than two (2) years from the date of the first absence from work related to the injury or illness;
 - (c) Is laid off for less than twenty-four (24) months;
 - (d) Is on the trial period of an out of scope position;
 - (e) Is in a term in an out of scope position;
 - (f) Is on an educational leave of absence in excess of two (2) years.

Article 13 Layoff and Recall

- 13:01 In the event of a layoff, employees shall be laid off in the reverse order of their seniority, within their classification provided that the employees retained are qualified to perform the work to be done.
- 13:02 If layoff is necessary, the Employer shall advise the Union of the proposed reduction and the employee(s) affected prior to the layoff notice(s) being issued.

- 13:03 Except in circumstances beyond the sole control of the Employer, an employee shall receive written notice from the Employer informing them of the date which they are to be laid off at least four (4) weeks prior to the effective date of the layoff. The notice shall give the reasons for the layoff and the expected duration. If the employee has not been given the opportunity to work the days as provided in this Article they shall be paid for the days for which work has not been made available.
- 13:04 Employees laid off shall be placed on the layoff list according to their seniority with a copy of the layoff list being provided to the Union. Laid off employees shall be called back to work to positions for which they are qualified beginning with the most senior employee on the layoff list and descending from there.
- 13:05 Notice of recall to an employee who has been laid off shall be made by registered mail to the last known address of such employee filed by the employee with the Employer.
- 13:06 New employees shall not be hired to fill positions formerly held by employees on layoff until those laid off have been recalled or have failed to respond to notice of recall.
- 13:07 Laid off employees that maintain casual status will be given preference in the awarding of shifts up to the FTE of their previous position, subject to the availability of such employees and provided they are qualified, competent and willing to perform the required work. Participation in the casual pool shall in no way negatively affect rights to recall.
- **13:08** There shall be no contracting out of bargaining unit work in a manner which would deprive any present employee of employment with the Employer.

- 13:09 To be eligible for recall, prior to the employee's last shift before being placed on layoff status, the employee must provide the Employer with their current address and further, during the layoff period, must inform the Employer immediately of any address changes.
- 13:10 Upon receipt of a notice of recall in accordance with Article 13:05 an employee shall communicate to the Employer their acceptance of recall within seven (7) days. Further, the employee must be prepared to begin work within two (2) weeks of receipt of notification.
- 13:11 The right of a person who has been laid off to be rehired under this Agreement will be forfeited and shall be considered terminated in the following circumstances:
 - (a) If the person did not communicate with the Employer as specified in Article 13:10.
 - (b) If the person did not report to work when instructed to do so and fails to provide a written explanation acceptable to the Employer.
 - (c) A twenty-four (24) month period has elapsed since the date of layoff as per Article 12:05 (d).

Article 14 Vacation

- 14:01 The dates used to calculate vacation earned shall be from April 1st to March 31st in the following year. Vacation earned in any vacation year is taken in the following vacation year. Notwithstanding these dates, vacation entitlement shall be calculated as at the end of the last full pay period of the vacation year.
- 14:02 An employee while on leave with pay, sick leave with pay, or in receipt of Workers Compensation for up to one year shall be entitled to **their** vacation with pay in the same manner as if **they were** not absent from work.

Vacation shall continue to accrue during an unpaid leave of absence of up to four (4) weeks in duration and shall not accrue beyond four (4) weeks.

14:03 Employees shall earn vacation leave credits on the following basis:

- (a) Employees who have completed less than two (2) years' service, one and one-quarter (1 ½) working days per complete month of service in each vacation year to be taken in the vacation year following the year in which the vacation is earned.
- (b) Commencing from the beginning of the vacation year in which two (2) years of service will be completed, one and two-thirds (1 2/3) working days per complete month of service in each vacation year to be taken in the year in which three (3) years of service are completed and yearly thereafter.
- (c) Commencing from the beginning of the vacation year in which nine (9) years of service will be completed, two and one twelfth (2 1/12) working days per complete month of service in each vacation year to be taken in the year in which ten (10) years of service are completed and yearly thereafter.
- (d) Commencing from the beginning of the vacation year in which nineteen (19) years of service will be completed, two and one-half (2 ½) working days per complete month of service in each vacation year to be taken in the year in which twenty (20) years of service are completed and yearly thereafter.
- (e) Notwithstanding subsections (a), (b), (c) and (d), employees terminating in their second (2nd) year of service shall have their vacation leave credits cashed-out at the rate of one and one-quarter (1 ½) days per complete month of service and employees terminating in their ninth (9th) year of service shall have their vacation leave credits cashed-out at the rate of one and two-thirds (1 ½/3) days per complete month of service, and employees terminating in their nineteenth (19th) year of service shall have their vacation credits

- cashed out at the rate of two and one-twelfth (2 1/12) days per complete month of service.
- 14:04 Termination vacation pay shall be calculated in accordance with sections 14:03 and 36:03 based on the rate of pay in effect on the date of termination.
- 14:05 The Employer shall notify each employee, prior to **their** vacation, of the date and time upon which **they are** to report back to work following **their** vacation, but this will not preclude the making of a change during the vacation period if mutual agreement is reached between the Employer and the employee.
- **14:06** (a) The Employer will post an estimated vacation entitlement list no later than February 7th.
 - (b) Employees will submit in writing their preference for vacation dates for all or part of their vacation entitlement by March 7th of each vacation year.
 - (c) Employees will be granted preference for vacation leave based upon seniority within each department subject to operational requirements.
 - (d) Where an employee has not submitted their full vacation entitlement by March 7th, any further vacation requested will be on a first come first served basis, subject to operational requirements and 48 hours' notice. Where a member has submitted a vacation request, the employer shall provide a response with approving or denying the request as soon as practicable. Such response shall not be unduly delayed.
 - (e) The Employer shall post the vacation schedules by April 15th each year.
 - (f) Subject to operational requirements an employee may take vacation of up to four (4) consecutive weeks.

(g) Employees may request authorization to take vacation in blocks of less than one (1) week. Partial week vacation requests shall be considered only after all blocks of one (1) or more consecutive weeks have been authorized. Where such partial week vacation requests are made prior to the posting of the shift schedule in which the requested vacation would occur, such requests shall not be unreasonably denied.

For the purposes of booking vacation for employees who work less than 1.0 FTE, vacation blocks are considered to be consecutive work days assigned, regardless of gap between work days.

- 14:07 Where one or more Statutory Holidays fall within the vacation period(s) of an employee, an additional working day(s) shall either be added to the vacation period(s) if requested by the employee, or be taken at some later date as mutually agreed.
- 14:08 When an employee requests to change **their** vacation period or trade scheduled vacation with another employee(s), except in exceptional circumstances such requests shall be submitted in writing to the Employer for approval no less than seven (7) days prior to the beginning of the vacation period. Such requests shall not be unreasonably denied.
- 14:09 An employee must use current annual vacation, (which was earned during the previous vacation year), during the current vacation year. Upon receipt of a written request, the Employer, at its sole discretion, will consider a carryover of vacation from one year to the following year and such requests shall not be unreasonably denied.

The Employer shall post a notice, no later than **November** 1st of each year, indicating the need for employees to request the scheduling of their remaining vacation. Employees shall be given the opportunity to request remaining unscheduled vacation entitlement by **November** 15th of each year on a first come first serve basis. Any vacation entitlement not requested by **November** 15th may, at the discretion of the Employer, be scheduled by the Employer.

Vacation may be paid out only in extenuating circumstances and / or at the discretion of the Employer. When exercising their discretion the Employer shall act reasonably.

Vacation entitlement will be payable at the employee's regular rate of pay.

14:10 Effective April 1, 2009, in recognition of length of service, each full-time employee shall receive one additional week of vacation (5 days) on completion of twenty (20) years of continuous service, and on each subsequent fifth (5th) (i.e. 25th, 30th, 35th, 40th, etc.) anniversary of employment. The additional five days shall be granted in the calendar year in which the anniversary date falls and are not cumulative.

Part time employees shall be entitled to a pro-rata portion of this benefit.

Employees whose anniversary date falls in the period April 1, 2008 to March 31, 2009 will be entitled to receive this benefit in the 2009 calendar year.

- 14:11 After satisfactory completion of probation, and with the approval of the Employer subject to operational requirements, accumulated vacation leave up to a maximum of five (5) working days may be granted to an employee in the employee's first twelve (12) months of service.
- 14:12 An employee who voluntarily transfers, or accepts a promotion to another position after **their** vacation request has been approved, will have **their** vacation schedule reviewed by the Manager of the new department/unit. The new Manager will in consultation with the employee attempt to accommodate previously approved vacation wherever reasonably possible. In exceptional circumstances, the employee's vacation may be rescheduled within the remaining vacation year. In all other cases no changes to previously approved vacation shall be made without the consent of the affected employee.

Article 15 Sick Leave

- 15:01 An employee having accumulated an entitlement to sick leave may claim basic pay against such accumulation with respect to the period during which **they were** unable to work because of an incapacitation due to an accident or illness.
- 15:02 Each employee shall accumulate sick leave at the rate of one and one quarter (1¹/₄) days for each full month of employment to a maximum of one hundred and twenty (120) days.
 - Sick leave shall continue to accrue during an unpaid leave of absence of up to four (4) weeks in duration and shall not accrue beyond four (4) weeks.
- 15:03 An employee who is unable to perform **their** regular work with the Employer as a result of injury or illness which is recognized as compensable by the Workers Compensation Act will be entitled to payment for the difference between the compensation and **their** regular salary. Such difference will be deducted from **their** accumulated sick leave entitlement and payment will cease when **their** entitlement has been totally claimed.
- 15:04 Notwithstanding Section :03, an employee's pay may only be "topped up" by ten percent (10%) of net salary.
- 15:05 If, at any time, it is decided by the Workers Compensation Board that the additional amount referred to in Section :04 must be offset against benefits otherwise payable by the Workers Compensation Board, then such additional amount shall not be payable.
- 15:06 An employee who is unable to report for work due to illness shall call in according to the Call In Procedure unless the employee has been directed to contact management directly prior to the shift in question. An employee who fails, without valid reason, to give notice as specified below will not be entitled to receive income protection benefits for the shift(s) in question.

One (1) hour notice prior to any shift commencing between 0530 and 1330.

Three (3) hours notice prior to any shift commencing outside the hours stated above.

- 15:07 An employee who has been absent because of sickness for a period of three (3) consecutive days or more shall furnish, when requested by the Employer, at any time during or after this period of sickness, the medical certificate that was obtained during the period of illness that the employee is or was unable to be present at work because of illness. Where an employee fails to produce a medical certificate acceptable to the Employer, the employee shall not be entitled to be paid for the period of absence.
- 15:08 The Employer reserves the right to require a certificate from a qualified medical practitioner as proof of the employees' fitness to return to work, or to determine approximate length of illness, or in the case of suspected abuse, as proof of illness in regard to any claim for income protection. Failure to provide such a certificate when requested may disqualify an employee from receiving income protection benefits.
- 15:09 Days off and Recognized Holidays which fall within a period of sick leave shall not be considered a part of, or charged to, accumulated sick leave.
- 15:10 (a) For each one and one-quarter (1 ½) days of sick leave accumulated, one (1) day shall be reserved exclusively for the employee's personal use as outlined in 15:01. The remaining one-quarter (½) day shall be reserved for either the employee's personal use as outlined in 15:01, or to provide care in the event of family illness as specified in 15:10(b). The Employer shall maintain an up-to-date record of the balance of sick leave credits reserved for each of these purposes.
 - (b) An employee may use up to five (5) days sick leave in any one (1) calendar year to provide care in the event of illness of a spouse, child or parent. Such days that may be utilized for this purpose are set out in 15:10 (a).

15:11 Upon sufficient notification to the Employer, and providing such time off does not unduly effect departmental operations, employees shall be allowed time off with pay to attend appointments with a doctor, dentist, chiropractor, physiotherapist, or other recognized medical therapist recommended by a physician. The time utilized for such appointments shall be deducted from accumulated sick leave.

Whenever possible, appointments are to be made on the employee's day off or at a time when the employee is not on duty. If this is not possible, the employee will endeavour to make the appointment at a time which is least disruptive to the department. The employee will return to work following their appointment, to complete their scheduled shift unless it is not reasonable to do so for medical or practical reasons.

Reasonable notice for pre-scheduled medical, dental or chiropractic examination or treatment will be forty-eight (48) hours or such notice as the employee themselves receives. An employee undergoing elective surgery must give notice equivalent to the notice that the employee themselves receives.

15:12 <u>Compassionate Care Leave</u>

An employee shall receive compassionate care leave without pay to provide care or support to a seriously ill family member, subject to the following conditions:

- (a) An employee must have completed at least (30) days of employment as of the intended date of leave.
- (b) An employee who wishes to take a leave under this section must give the Employer notice of at least one (1) pay period, unless circumstances necessitate a shorter period.
- (c) An employee may take no more than two (2) periods of leave, totaling no more than eight (8) weeks, which must end no later than twenty-six (26) weeks after the day the first period of leave began. No period of leave may be less than one (1) week's duration.

- (d) For an employee to be eligible for leave, a physician who provides care to the family member must issue a certificate stating that:
 - (1) A family member of the employee has a serious medical condition with a significant risk of death within twenty-six (26) weeks from:
 - (i) The day the certificate is issued; or
 - (ii) If the leave was begun before the certificate was issued, the day the leave began; and
 - (iii) The family member requires the care or support of one or more family members.

The employee must give the employer a copy of the physician's certificate as soon as possible.

- (e) A family member for the purpose of this Article shall be defined as:
 - (1) A spouse or common-law partner of the employee;
 - (2) A child of the employee or a child of the employee's spouse or common-law partner;
 - (3) A parent of the employee or a parent of the employee's spouse or common-law partner;
 - (4) A brother, sister, step-brother, step-sister, uncle, aunt, nephew, niece, grandchild or grandparent of the employee or of the employee's spouse or common-law partner;
 - (5) A current or former foster parent of the employee, or of the employee's spouse or common-law partner;
 - (6) A current or former foster child, ward or guardian of the employee, or of the employee's spouse or common-law partner;
 - (7) The spouse or common-law partner of a person mentioned in any of the clauses (iii), (iv), (v) and (vi);

- (8) Any other person whom the employee considers to be like a close relative, whether or not they are related by blood, adoption, marriage or common-law relationship.
- (f) An employee may end their compassionate leave earlier than eight (8) weeks by giving the Employer at least forty-eight (48) hours notice. Where an employee has been provided necessary time off under this section, and where the Employer has made arrangements for alternate staffing for covering the anticipated absence, the Employer shall have the right to cancel the relief shifts scheduled to cover the anticipated absence without additional cost.
- (g) Seniority shall accrue as per Article 12:06 and 12:07.
- (h) Subject to the provisions of Article 15:10 the employee may apply to utilize income protection credits to cover part or all of the two (2) week Employment Insurance waiting period.
- (i) In the event that the death of a family member occurs during this period of leave, the employee shall be eligible for Bereavement Leave as outlined in Article 17:01.

15:13 Organ Donation Leave

An employee who has been employed for at least thirty (30) days is entitled to unpaid leave of up to thirteen (13) weeks for the purpose of donating an organ as outlined in the Employment Standards Code.

The provisions of The Employment Standards Code and any amendments shall apply to all terms and conditions of this leave, including duration, eligibility, and rights upon return to work.

An employee who has been granted leave for the purposes of organ donation shall, upon commencement of such leave, be granted up to ten (10) working days of income protection credits, to bridge the employee through the waiting period of Employment Insurance benefits for leave for organ donation. The income protection leave shall be granted as long as the Federal government agency administering Employment Insurance

benefits allows the income protection credits to bridge to the waiting period.

Article 16 Medical Fitness

16:01 At the request of the Employer, an employee may be required to have a medical examination from a duly qualified medical practitioner, acceptable to or appointed by the Employer. The Employer shall pay the cost of the medical examination if the cost is not covered by Manitoba Health.

For those employees not on paid sick leave, or not on any other form of paid leave the Employer may, if reasonably possible, assign the employee to attend such examination during a regularly scheduled shift. If not reasonably possible for an employee to attend during work, **they** will be provided compensation at straight time for all time spent required for attending to and completion of such examination.

Article 17 Bereavement Leave

17:01 Bereavement Leave of up to four (4) working days without loss of pay shall be granted in the event of the death of a:

Spouse Son-in-law

Common law spouse Sister-in-law

Partner Brother-in-law

Child or ward of the employee Grandparent-in-law

Parent Fiancée/fiancé

Sibling Step parents

Grandparent Step children

Grandchild Step grandchildren

Father-in-law Former legal guardian

Mother-in-law Foster parent

Daughter-in-law Foster child

Or a relative permanently residing in the employee's household or with whom the employee resides.

Such days may be taken only in the period which extends from the date of death up to and including three (3) days following interment.

One (1) bereavement leave day may be retained for use in the case where actual interment or cremation is at a later date.

Bereavement leave may be extended by up to two (2) additional working days as may be necessitated by reason of travel to attend the funeral provided the employee is required to attend a funeral more than two hundred and fifty (250) kilometers from their home.

- 17:02 In the event of the death of an employee's aunt or uncle the employee may be granted the necessary time off to attend the funeral without loss of pay.
- 17:03 An employee who is entitled to be reavement leave under 17:01 or 17:02 during a vacation leave shall receive vacation credits equal to the number of days of bereavement leave granted under 17:01 or 17:02.
- 17:04 (a) Provided the employee has not received bereavement leave for the death in question, necessary time off up to one (1) day at basic pay will be granted an employee to attend a funeral as a pallbearer.
 - (b) Provided the employee has not received bereavement leave for the death in question, necessary time off up to one (1) day at basic pay may be granted an employee to attend a funeral as a mourner.

Article 18 Parenting Leave

- **18:01** Parenting Leave consists of Maternity Leave and Parental leave. Parental leave includes Paternity and Adoption leave.
 - (i) Maternity/Parental Leave

An employee shall receive Maternity Leave of seventeen (17) weeks and Parental Leave of **sixty-three (63)** weeks without pay, subject to the following conditions:

- (a) An employee must have completed six (6) months employment as of the intended date of leave unless otherwise agreed to by the Employer.
- (b) A written request must be submitted not later than the end of the twenty-second (22nd) week of pregnancy, indicating length of time required. In cases where an earlier leave is required, a written request must be submitted not less than four (4) weeks before the intended date of leave, indicating length of time requested.
- (c) In the interest of job performance or employee health, the Employer may require an employee to provide a medical certificate as proof of **their** ability to continue work. Such proof shall not be unreasonably requested.
- (d) Where an employee takes Parental Leave in addition to Maternity Leave, the employee must commence the Parental Leave immediately on the expiry of the Maternity Leave without a return to work unless otherwise approved by the Employer.

An employee who has been granted Maternity Leave shall, upon request to the Employer, be entitled to ten (10) days sick leave to be applied against the EI waiting period, subject to that amount of sick leave being available to the credit of the employee.

(ii) Parental Leave - Paternity

An employee shall receive Parental Leave of **sixty-three (63)** weeks, subject to the following conditions:

- (a) **They** become the natural father of a child and assumes actual care and custody of **their** child.
- (b) **They have** completed six (6) months employment as of the date of the intended leave.
- (c) **They** submit to the Employer an application in writing for Parental Leave at least four (4) weeks before the day specified in

- the application as the day on which the employee intends to commence the leave.
- (d) Parental Leave must be commenced not later than the anniversary date of the birth of the child or the date on which the child came into the actual care and custody of the employee.

(iii) Parental Leave - Adoption

An employee shall receive Parental Leave of up to sixty-three (63) weeks without pay, subject to the following conditions:

- (a) An employee must adopt a child under the laws of the province.
- (b) An employee may commence Adoption leave upon seven (7) days notice provided that application for such leave is made when the adoption has been approved and the Employer is kept informed of the progress of the adoption proceedings.
- (c) An employee has completed six (6) months employment as of the date of the intended leave.
- (d) Parental Leave must be commenced no later than the first anniversary date of adoption of the child or the date on which the child comes into actual care and custody of the employee.
- (iv) An employee wishing to return to work after Maternity and/or Parental Leave shall notify the Employer in writing at least four (4) weeks in advance of **their** return. On return from Maternity and/or Parental Leave, the employee shall be placed in **their** former position and shift schedule at the same increment step.
- (v) An employee may end **their** Parental Leave earlier than the thirty-seven (37) weeks by giving the Employer written notice at least two (2) weeks or one (1) pay period, whichever is the longer, before the day the employee wishes to end the leave. On return from Maternity and/or Parental Leave, the employee shall be placed in **their** former classification and shift schedule at the same increment step.

Article 19 Court Leave

- 19:01 An employee who is summoned for jury duty or who receives a subpoena to appear as a witness in a court proceeding, other than a court proceeding occasioned by the employee's private affairs shall be granted a leave of absence with pay for the required period of absence provided that such employee remits to the Employer any payment received other than reimbursement of expenses. An employee required to attend a court proceeding as a party to that proceeding, occasioned by the employees private affairs shall receive a leave of absence without pay for the required absence. Employees may access unused current paid vacation entitlement or banked time for this leave of absence.
- 19:02 Subject to the following conditions (a) and (b) an employee who receives a subpoena to appear as a witness in a court proceeding outside of their regularly scheduled work time shall be compensated. If overtime is incurred, the employee will be compensated according to Article 22:
 - (a) The court proceeding must be occasioned by the employee's performance of **their** duties or arises due to a work related occurrence at the place of employment.
 - (b) The court proceeding is not occasioned by the employee's private affairs.

Article 20 Recognized Holidays

20:01 For purposes of this Agreement, recognized (paid) holidays shall be:

New Year's Day
Louis Riel Day
Labour Day

Good Friday National Day for Truth & Reconciliation

Easter Monday
Victoria Day
National Indigenous Peoples Day
Canada Day (July 1)
Thanksgiving Day
Remembrance Day
Christmas Day
Boxing Day

Any other holiday proclaimed by Federal or Provincial Statute.

Full-time employees shall be allowed to bank up to three (3) alternate days off in lieu of general holidays, for the employee's future use, at a time mutually agreed to between the employee and the Employer. If alternate time off is impractical to schedule before March 31 of any year, the employee shall receive **their** regular rate of pay for all days banked.

- 20:02 Whenever a recognized holiday falls on an employee's scheduled day off, the employee shall receive an extra day's pay; the Employer may, however, give the employee an extra day off in lieu thereof if requested by the employee. The Employer agrees to schedule such lieu day within thirty (30) days following the Holiday unless mutually agreed to the contrary.
- 20:03 An employee required to work on a recognized holiday shall be paid at time and one-half (1 ½ x) their basic rate of pay for all hours worked on the holiday and the employee shall receive an extra day's pay; the Employer may, however, give the employee an extra day off in lieu thereof if requested by the employee.
- 20:04 A day off given in lieu of a recognized holiday shall, whenever reasonably possible, be added to scheduled days off.
- **20:05** The Employer agrees to assign time off as equitably as possible over Christmas and New Year's.

Article 21 Shift, Work Days and Work Weeks

21:01 The regular workday shall consist of eight hours excluding a one-half (½) hour meal period and including two fifteen (15) minute rest periods. Meal period and rest periods will be as scheduled by the Employer after meaningful consultation with the employees affected. The regular two-week shift rotation shall be eighty (80) hours excluding meal and including rest periods.

- **21:02** For identification purposes, shifts will be named as follows:
 - (a) The shift commencing at or about 0730 hours and ending at or about 1600 hours shall be considered the first/day shift;
 - (b) The shift commencing at or about 1530 hours and ending at our about 2400 hours shall be considered the second/evening shift;
 - (c) The shift commencing at or about 2330 hours and ending at or about 0800 hours shall be considered the third/night shift.
- **21:03** The Employer is committed to providing, wherever possible, stable and predictable schedules.
 - (a) Any variation in hours of work from those specified in 21:02 shall be implemented upon mutual agreement of the Employer and the majority of employees affected.
 - (b) The Employer shall notify affected employees in writing four (4) weeks prior to any intended permanent change in the master shift schedule with a copy to the Union.
 - (c) Prior to the notification referenced in (a) above, the Employer shall have meaningful consultation with the Union to discuss any such proposed changes. The notice period may be adjusted by agreement between the affected employee(s), the Employer and the Union.
 - (d) The master shift schedule is the pattern of all shifts that the employer needs to cover the normal staffing requirements of the work area or operation.
- 21:04 Employees wanting to exchange shifts shall jointly apply to do so in writing co-signed by the employee willing to exchange shifts with the applicant, not less than twenty four (24) hours prior to the scheduled shifts or earlier if necessary in order to obtain the written approval of the respective manager or **designate**. Any exchange in shifts requested by employees and approved by the Employer shall not result in overtime costs to the Employer.

Occasional requests for interchanges in posted shifts shall be submitted in writing co-signed by the employee willing to exchange shifts with the applicant. These requests are subject to the approval of the department head or designate and shall always be paid at the employee's regular rate of pay and applicable shift premiums. Shifts must be exchanged within the same or consecutive pay period. If the shift falls in the subsequent pay period the employee understands their pay may be affected.

The Employer agrees that email may be used to facilitate exchange of shifts between the employees affected and the respective manager.

- 21:05 Shift schedules for a minimum of a three (3) week period shall be posted via a web based scheduling platform at least one (1) week in advance of the beginning of the scheduled period. Posted shift schedules shall not be altered except by mutual agreement between the employee and the Employer.
- 21:06 There will be no payment for occasional overtime periods or deductions for occasional tardiness of less than fifteen (15) minutes in a day.
- 21:07 No employee will be required to work a split shift against their wishes.
- **21:08** For the purpose of scheduling additional non-overtime shifts available to part-time employees:
 - (a) For shifts where vacancy is determined more than fourteen (14) days in advance, available shifts shall be first offered to qualified employees within the classification a minimum of fourteen (14) days in advance of when they are to be worked. Part-time employees desirous of working such shift(s) shall respond designating their availability within forty-eight (48) hours of notice of available shifts, in order to have their preferences considered.
 - (b) Where the vacancy is determined fourteen (14) days or less in advance, the part-time employee shall respond designating **their** availability within twenty-four (24) hours of notice of available shifts, in order to have their preferences considered.

(c) Where a vacancy occurs within twenty-four (24) hours, the shift(s) will be offered to qualified employees on site or filled in accordance to first response with availability.

For (a), (b) and (c) above shifts shall be assigned by descending order of seniority, in accordance with employees' designated availability. **Once a senior employee has accepted additional shifts in a pay period, shifts shall then be offered in descending order of seniority to those qualified employees who have not yet accepted additional shifts in that pay period.**

21:09 The parties recognize that flexibility in hours of work is necessary in providing case management supports.

Flex time is an alternative schedule used by staff which varies their work routine from normal working hours and is not included in overtime calculations.

Upon mutual agreement between the Employer and an employee designated as a case worker, such employee may work an extended/alternate work day in order to provide services to clients or to accommodate personal need. All hours worked on an extended/alternate day shall be used to effect a shorter work week and shall be taken back within six (6) weeks following the date on which the extended/alternate day occurred. Overtime does not apply to employees working extended/alternate days.

- 21:10 Staff who wish to pick up additional shifts or switch shifts will be permitted to subject to Article 33:02 and any other operational requirements. Employees will be paid according to the classification of the additional picked up shift.
- 21:11 A full-time employees' day of rest shall be deemed to end at the commencement of their next regularly scheduled shift.

Article 22 Overtime

- 22:01 (a) An employee who is required to work overtime on a regular workday shall be compensated for such additional time at the rate of time and one-half (1 ½x) their regular rate of each hour so worked.
 - (b) When overtime is required for the next consecutive shift to that being currently worked, it shall first be offered to the employees already on site where reasonable and practical and where the employees are willing to work the overtime.
 - Where more than one employee on site is willing to work the available overtime as assigned, it shall be offered in order of descending seniority among employees qualified to perform the work. Once a senior employee has accepted overtime in a pay period, overtime shall be then offered in descending order of seniority to those qualified employees who have not yet accepted overtime in that pay period.
 - (c) In all other circumstances when overtime is required it shall be offered in order of descending seniority among employees qualified to perform the work. Once a senior employee has accepted overtime in a pay period, overtime shall be then offered in descending order of seniority to those qualified employees who have not yet accepted overtime in that pay period.
- 22:02 An employee who is required to work on a day of rest is entitled to compensation at double time (2x) for all hours worked. An employee's day of rest shall be deemed to begin at the same time as **their** regular shift would have begun had it been a day of work.
- 22:03 An employee, if called out to work overtime shall receive for the work compensation of a minimum of three (3) hours work at the overtime rate, provided that the period of overtime worked by the employee is not contiguous to the scheduled working hours.

- 22:04 By mutual agreement between the Employer and the employee, overtime may be compensated for by granting of equivalent time off at overtime rates. Such time shall be taken by the employee prior to March 31 of any year or it will be paid out.
- 22:05 An employee required to work overtime without any advance notice for a period in excess of three (3) hours immediately following **their** regular shift shall be provided, at no cost, an approved meal available within the workplace. The meal provided will take into consideration any employee dietary restrictions.
- 22:06 In every period of overtime, a paid rest period of fifteen (15) minutes shall occur during each continuous period of more than three (3) hours, unless the overtime worked is a full shift, in which case regular meal / rest periods shall occur.
- 22:07 An employee required by the Employer to attend classes of instruction or interdepartmental meetings outside **their** regular hours shall be paid straight time rates for time spent in attendance at such courses or meetings or be given equivalent time off at a mutually agreed time. Upon request if the time of any meeting or course will prevent adequate rest time for employees with night shifts the Employer will endeavor to accommodate in a fair and reasonable manner.

22:08 Overtime shall be paid:

- (a) For all hours worked in excess of eight (8) hours per day; and
- (b) For all hours worked in excess of eight (80) hours per bi-weekly pay period.

In the case of eligibility for overtime pay, days paid with income protection do not contribute towards the total of hours worked in that pay period.

Article 23 Duration of Agreement

- 23:01 This Agreement shall become effective from and including the April 1, 2019 and shall continue in effect up to and including March 31, 2026, and shall remain in full force and effect from year to year thereafter unless written notice to negotiate a renewal is given by either party at least thirty (30) days prior to the expiry date thereof.
- **23:02** During the period required to negotiate a renewal of this Agreement the provisions of this Agreement shall remain in full force and effect.
- 23:03 All additions, deletions, amendments, and/or revisions from the previous Agreement to this Agreement shall be effective from the first day of the biweekly pay period following the date of signing of this Collective Agreement unless otherwise specified.

Article 24 Pay Plan

- **24:01** Employees shall be paid in bi-weekly pay periods in accordance with Appendix "A".
- 24:02 Whenever an employee is promoted and where the pay range permits, they shall be paid at a rate of pay that is at least one increment higher than the rate of pay in their former position or the maximum salary for the position to which they are promoted. Subject to Article 24:03, subsequent increments, if any, shall be due upon the completion of full time yearly hours in the new position worked, as per Appendix "A".

Where an employee is promoted to, or acts in, another higher paid position, the employee shall be paid at a rate of pay set out for that position in the salary schedule that is, the greater of either three percent (3%), or one (1) full increment, more than the rate of pay the employee was being paid in the employee's former position.

24:03 Subject to satisfactory performance, employees shall receive annual increments as provided for in Appendix "A" upon completion of each complete year's accumulated service (2080 regular hours).

Article 25 Job Classification

25:01 The Employer agrees to provide the Union, within thirty days of the date of the signing of the Collective Agreement, with job descriptions for all full-time and part-time bargaining unit positions. The Employer shall forward to the Union any changes to in scope job descriptions.

Article 26 Acting Status

26:01 Where an employee is temporarily assigned to replace an employee in a more highly paid position than **their** own **they** shall be paid at the first rate in the higher scale which exceeds **their** current salary by at least one (1) increment from the date of taking over the higher paid position.

Article 27 Pension Plan

27:01 The Community Agencies **Benefits Plan** (Ellement Consulting Group) shall continue in accordance with the terms and conditions of that plan and on a 50/50 cost shared basis.

Article 28 Benefits Plan

- 28:01 The parties agree to continue the practice of paying the premiums for Community Agency Benefit Plan Level 4, (Great West Life) split so that the Employer pays the premium for all benefits except the premiums for LTD which are paid by the employees.
- **28:02** (a) Effective March 31, 2014, benefit coverage under the current Level 4 Benefit Plan will cease, and
 - (b) Effective April 1, 2014, benefit coverage under the Level 3 Benefit Plan will be implemented (existing extended health and dental benefits except that orthodontics will no longer be provided).
- **28:03** Effective date of ratification part time employees that are hired and maintain an EFT of 0.6 or larger will be eligible to participate in the benefit plans.

28:04 Employees who wish to retain such benefits will pay the employer's and employee's share of Group Health, Dental, Group Life and D & R when on any period of unpaid leave of absence.

Article 29 Employee Assistance Program

29:01 The Employer agrees to provide employees with coverage for an Employee Assistance Program. The costs of the Program will be paid for fully by the Employer.

Article 30 Labour Management Committee

30:01 The parties hereto agree to a joint committee being established to deal with such matters of mutual concern as may arise from time to time in the operation of the Main Street Project.

Employees are expected to bring matters of mutual concern to their managers as they arise and collaborate on the resolution before they are brought to the committee.

- 30:02 The Committee shall be composed of equal representation from the Employer and the local Union with the total committee representation not to exceed six (6) members, unless mutually agreed otherwise. The local Union committee members may at any time have a Representative from the Manitoba Government and General Employees' Union.
- 30:03 The Committee shall meet at least four (4) times per year or more frequently as matters arise as and when required at a mutually agreeable time upon written notice being given by either party. An agenda will be prepared by the calling party and shall be submitted five (5) working days prior to the meeting taking place.
- 30:04 The parties acknowledge the value of professional and meaningful communication to the Board from the Union.

The Union may submit a quarterly report to the Board. The report shall be submitted in conjunction with the MGEU Staff Representative and MSP

unionized employees. The report shall be copied to the Executive Director two (2) weeks prior to submission to the Board for review and potential discussion of contents.

Article 31 Workplace Safety and Health Committee

- 31:01 A joint Workplace Safety and Health Committee, as per the Workplace Safety and Health Act, shall be established to examine all aspects of safety and health measures within the organization.
- 31:02 The parties agree to a single Workplace Safety and Health Committee responsible for all Employer work locations. Such Committee will be deemed to retain all responsibilities, jurisdiction and authorities as conferred to committees under the Workplace Safety and Health Act of Manitoba.
- 31:03 The Workplace Safety and Health Committee shall be composed of equal representation from the Employer and the local Union with the total committee representation not to exceed six (6) members, unless mutually agreed otherwise.

Article 32 Shift and Weekend Premium

32:01 An employee who works a shift where half or more of the hours are worked between 5:00 p.m. and 11:59 p.m. shall be eligible to receive a shift premium of eight dollars and fifty cents (\$8.50) per shift in addition to the employee's regular pay.

An employee who works a shift where half or more of the hours are worked between 0:01 a.m. and 5:00 a.m. shall be eligible to receive a shift premium of twelve dollars (\$12.00) per shift in addition to the employee's regular pay.

A weekend premium of one dollar and thirty five cents (\$1.35) per hour shall be paid to an employee for all hours actually worked on any shift where the majority of hours on that shift fall between 0001 hours on the Saturday and 2400 hours on the following Sunday.

- 32:02 The shift premium shall not be included in the calculation of Pension, Group Life Insurance, Sick Leave, Vacation Pay or any other employee benefits unless otherwise provided for in this Agreement.
- 32:03 An employee who works an overtime shift will be eligible for Shift Premium provided the employee is replacing another employee who would have received the shift premium if he had worked the shift. An overtime shift is defined as a full shift, i.e. eight (8) hours which is worked by an employee on an overtime basis.

Article 33 Recruitment

- 33:01 Vacant positions that fall within the scope of this agreement shall be posted for at least seven (7) calendar days. Such postings shall state the required qualifications, current or anticipated shift pattern, if known, hours of work and wage rate.
 - Internal applicants shall be given preference over external candidates provided the applicants are qualified for the position.
- 33:02 In order to be eligible for a vacant position, a candidate must first possess the qualifications prescribed by the Employer for the position concerned, possess a satisfactory employment record and meet the physical requirements of the position in question. Where more than one internal candidate possesses the above selection criteria, the vacancy selection shall be based upon seniority.

- All promotions and voluntary transfers are subject to a three (3) month trial period (four (4) months for part-time employees) and if an employee is found by the Employer to be unsatisfactory in **their** new position during this trial period, **they** shall be returned to **their** former position, or one similar with the same EFT position, and pay, without loss of seniority. All other employees so affected may be returned to their former positions as required without any notice requirement. In addition, the parties agree that the Employer may extend the above referenced trial period by up to three (3) months for full-time and up to four (4) months for part-time employees if it deems it appropriate.
- 33:04 The results of all postings for this bargaining unit shall be posted.
- 33:05 (a) When a vacancy arises or a new position is created, first consideration shall be given to lateral transfers from other shifts, subject to operational requirements and the employee having the appropriate qualifications as stated in Article 33:02.
 - (b) Requests for lateral transfers will be accepted at any time but will only be considered up to the end of the posting period for the position in question.
 - (c) Where two (2) or more internal applicants are qualified and suitable for the new shift assignment, the most senior applicant shall be awarded the assignment.
- 33:06 At the employer's discretion, an employee may be required to complete their trial period in their current position before they are eligible to move to a different position.

Article 34 Responsibility Pay

- 34:01 Effective date of ratification, where an existing employee has been requested by the Employer to orientate a new employee, the existing employee will be entitled to the responsibility pay as per article 34:02 for the assigned orientation shift. Assignment of orientation responsibilities will be at the sole discretion of the Employer.
- 34:02 Where an employee is assigned in accordance with 34:01 he shall be eligible to receive an additional eighty cents (\$0.80) per hour.

Article 35 Coverage for Incidental Costs

When an employee's clothing and/or personal effects are damaged during the course of **their** duties, the Employer shall cover the cost of the Article(s) upon provision of the appropriate receipts, if such coverage is not already provided for. No claims for compensation will be considered where an employee has or will receive adequate compensation from insurance or otherwise for the loss and damage of any items. It is the responsibility of employees to wear appropriate attire and accessories given the nature of the workplace.

Employees are responsible for any personal effects that are brought to their place of work and are not specifically required in the course of their employment and no claim for compensation will be considered for loss or theft of or damage to such personal effects.

35:02 Where an employee receives a parking ticket during the course of **their** duties, due to an unanticipated client situation and / or through no fault of their own, and **they** can show that in order to have fulfilled **their** duties the ticket was unavoidable, the Employer shall cover the cost of the ticket.

Article 36 Special Provisions for Part-time Employees

36:01 Part-time employees are entitled to benefits provided for under this Collective Agreement on a pro-rated basis based on hours paid at the regular rate of pay.

When prorating a benefit for part-time employees the following formula shall apply:

Hours Paid at Regular Rate of Pay X Entitlement of a Full-time Employee Full-time Hours (2080)

- 36:02 Part-time employees shall accrue sick leave in accordance with Article 15:02 on a prorated basis in accordance with the pro-rating formula as specified in Article 36:01.
- 36:03 Part-time employees shall earn vacation on a pro-rated basis in accordance with the pro-rating formula as specified in Article 36:01. Actual vacation accrual / vacation earning rate is based on years of service in accordance with Article 14:03. Vacation time is to be utilized or scheduled on day(s) that the part time employee would otherwise be scheduled to be at work as part of their established EFT.

Part-time employees are not entitled to unpaid vacation days.

Part-time employees who work additional available shifts or hours, shall accrue vacation pay on the additional available shifts or hours worked. Additional vacation time off does not accrue on additional available shifts or hours worked.

Such additional vacation pay shall at the option of the employee, be paid out as follows:

- (a) As additional vacation pay during their regular requested vacation period, or
- (b) On a regular pay day at the employee's written request to their Supervisor, or
- (c) As of March 31 of each vacation year as per Employer policies.
- 36:04 Part-time employees will be paid **five point three eight (5.38%)** of their basic pay in lieu of paid time off on a recognized holiday. Such holiday pay shall be calculated on all paid hours (excluding overtime) and shall be included in each regular biweekly pay.

- 36:05 Part-time employees shall be entitled to overtime rates as specified in Article 22 when authorized to work in excess of the regular daily or biweekly hours as specified in Articles 21.
- 36:06 Subject to satisfactory performance, part-time employees shall receive annual increments as provided for in Appendix "A" upon completion of equivalent to full-time annual hours worked (2080 regular hours).
- **36:07** Part-time employees shall be granted Bereavement Leave in accordance with Article 17.
- 36:08 A part-time employee required to work on a recognized holiday as listed in Article 20 shall be paid at time and one-half (1 ½ x) their basic rate of pay for all hours worked on the holiday.
- **36:09** Part-time employees working a shift of less than eight (8) hours in duration:
 - (a) Must work a minimum of five (5) hours in order to qualify for a half hour unpaid lunch period.
 - (b) A paid rest period of fifteen (15) minutes shall occur during each continuous period of more than three (3) hours.

Article 37 Term Positions

- 37:01 (a) A term position shall be for a specific time period or until completion of a particular project of a minimum duration of three (3) months and a maximum duration of one (1) year. This period may be extended if the Employer so requests and the Union agrees. Term positions of less than 3 months, may be implemented subject to the agreement of the Union.
 - (b) Employees shall not be eligible to apply for transfer during their probationary period, except where the posted position is permanent and represents a promotion or an increase in EFT. A probationary

employee who transfers will be required to complete a full probationary period, as defined in 1:01(c), in the new position.

- 37:02 When the Employer determines that a term position, as described above, exists the position shall be posted and filled in accordance with Article 33. Upon completion of the original term position, the employee(s) shall be returned to their former position(s).
- 37:03 For situations related to Workers Compensation and/or illness and/or accident or where a definitive expiry date cannot be specified, the Employer shall state on the job posting that the said term position will expire subject to twenty-four (24) hours' notice of return of the incumbent to their position.

The employee occupying the said term position shall receive notice equivalent to the amount of notice the employee returning from the leave provides the Employer, as referenced above.

- 37:04 An employee in a term position may be required to complete the term before being considered for other term positions within the bargaining unit. Once an employee leaves a term position, they have no rights to subsequently return to that same term position.
- 37:05 In case an employee on maternity leave or parental leave wants to exercise their right to return from such a leave earlier than anticipated, having given appropriate notice, the Employer shall state on the job posting that the said term position is a "maternity or parental leave of absence term" which may expire sooner than indicated, subject to a minimum notice of two (2) weeks or one pay period, whichever is longer. Any term positions resulting from the filling of such a term will be posted in the same manner.

Article 38 Term Employees

- 38:01 A term employee is one who is newly hired for a specific time period or until completion of a particular project for a minimum duration of three (3) months and a maximum duration of one (1) year. This period may be extended if the Employer so requests and the Union agrees. Term positions of less than 3 months, may be implemented subject to the agreement of the Union.
- 38:02 No employee shall be laid off or re-employed for the purpose of extending the period of term employment.
- 38:03 Should a term employee become permanent without a break in service, their service will be connected for seniority purposes.
- 38:04 A term employee shall have seniority rights equivalent to permanent employees in matters of hiring, transfer and promotion, provided the employee has the physical ability and necessary qualifications and training to meet the requirements of the job and a good employment record at the Main Street Project. Such seniority rights cannot be exercised over those permanent employees on staff at the date of the term employee's hiring.
- **38:05** A term employee shall not be eligible for transfer during **their** probationary period.
- 38:06 If a term employee is promoted or transferred to a permanent position, they will serve the usual probationary period in the permanent position.
- 38:07 A term employee shall have no seniority rights in matters of demotion, layoff and recall.

Article 39 Overpayment

- 39:01 The Employer shall not make deductions from wages unless authorized by statute, by Court Order, by Arbitration Award, by this Agreement, by the Union or to correct an overpayment error made in good faith. Where an error has been made in good faith, the Employer shall be entitled to recover any overpayment or payroll error made for a period of time that does not extend further back than 12 months from date of discovery, provided:
 - (a) Once the error is discovered, notice and a detailed breakdown of the error is given by the Employer to the affected employee and the Union as soon as practicable;
 - (b) The proposed recovery is made in a fair and reasonable a manner as possible; and
 - (c) The proposed recovery is made over a period of time which is no less than the period during which the overpayment and/or payroll error was made unless otherwise agreed between the Employer, employee and the Union.

In the event the employee retires from or leaves the employ of the Employer before the Employer is able to fully recover an overpayment as contemplated in this Article, the Employer shall be entitled to make a full recovery at the time of retirement or termination of employment of that employee and reduce accordingly any payments that might be owing to that employee to recover the overpayment or payroll error.

Article 40 Civil Liability Indemnification

- **40:01** If an action or proceeding is brought against any employee covered by this Agreement for an alleged tort committed by the employee in the performance of the employee's duties, except in instances of gross negligence then:
 - (a) The employee, upon being served with any legal process, or upon receipt of any action or proceeding as hereinbefore referred to, being

- commenced against the employee shall advise the employer of any such notification or legal process.
- (b) The Employer shall pay any damages or costs awarded against any such employee in any such action or proceedings and all legal fees; and/or
- (c) The Employer shall pay any sum required to be paid by such employee in connection with the settlement of any claim made against such employee if such settlement is approved by the Employer before the same is finalized; provided in every case the conduct of the employee which gave rise to the action did not constitute gross negligence of the employee's duty as an employee.
- 40:02 Upon the employee notifying the Employer in accordance with Article 40:01 above, the Employer and the employee shall forthwith meet and appoint counsel that is mutually agreeable to both parties. Should the parties be unable to agree on counsel that is satisfactory to both, then the Employer, or the Employer's insurance provider shall unilaterally appoint counsel. The Employer accepts full responsibility for the conduct of the action and the employee agrees to cooperate fully with appointed counsel.

Article 41 Time Off Requests

41:01 An employee seeking time off, accumulated as per Articles 20:02, 20:03 or 22:04, fourteen (14) or more days in advance of the date(s) off requested, shall submit **their** request to the Employer electronically or in writing as directed by the Employer. The Employer shall respond, with its disposition of the request, electronically or in writing to the employee, within seven (7) days of receipt of such request. All other time off requests of less than fourteen (14) days' notice shall be determined by the Employer and communicated to the employee as expeditiously as reasonably possible. Time off requests are subject to operational considerations and shall not be unreasonably denied.

Article 42 Leave of Absence

42:01 Except in emergencies, all requests for any leave of absence shall be made in writing stating the reasons for and the expected duration of the leave, and submitted to the Employer at least thirty(30) calendar days in advance. The Employer shall notify the employee of the decision in writing without undue delay. Such requests shall be considered on their individual merits including the operational needs of the department, and shall not be unreasonably denied.

IN WITNESS WHEREOF a representative of The Main Street Project Incorporated has hereunto set their hand for, and on behalf of The Main Street Project Incorporated, and a representative of Manitoba Government and General Employees' Union has hereunto set their hand for, and on behalf of Manitoba Government and General Employees' Union.

On behalf of The Main Street
Project Incorporated

On behalf of The Main Street
Project Incorporated

On behalf of Manitoba Government and General Employees' Union

On behalf of Manitoba Government and General Employees' Union

On behalf of Manitoba Government and General Employees' Union

between

The Main Street Project Incorporated and

Manitoba Government and General Employees' Union

Re: Use of Volunteers

The Employer agrees that prior to any member of the bargaining unit being involuntarily reduced in hours and the services the member(s) provided being recovered through the use of volunteers, they will meet with the Union to discuss potential options that may be available to maintain the hours of work for the affected employee(s).

Signed this day of JUNE, 2023.

On behalf of The Main Street
Project Incorporated

On behalf of Manitoba Government and General Employees' Union

On behalf of Manitoba Government and General Hmployees' Union

On behalf of Manitoba Government and General Employees' Union

between

The Main Street Project Incorporated and

Manitoba Government and General Employees' Union

Re: Emergency Disaster and Fire Plans

- (a) The importance of disaster plan exercises and fire drills is mutually acknowledged by the Employer and the Union.
- (b) In any emergency or disaster (a sudden generally unexpected occurrence or set of circumstances that overwhelms the Employer's available resources and causes a major impact requiring immediate action) declared by the CEO/COO or designate, employees are required to perform duties as assigned notwithstanding any contrary provision in this agreement. Compensation for unusual working conditions related to such emergency will be determined by later discussion, between the Employer and the Union and/or by means of the grievance procedure if necessary, except that the provisions of Article 22 shall apply to overtime hours worked.
- (c) Where overtime is worked by reason of a disaster plan exercise or fire drill, overtime will be paid in accordance with Article 22.

This Memorandum of Agreement will not supersede any other multi-union/multiemployer agreements relating to emergency or disaster response.

Signed thisd	lay of, 2023.
On behalf of The Main Street	On habels of Marian In Comment
Project Incorporated	On behalf of Manitoba Government and General Employees' Union
Op behalf of The Main Street Project Incorporated	On behalf of Manitoba Government and General Employees' Union

on behalf of Manitoba Government and General Employees' Union

between

The Main Street Project Incorporated and

Manitoba Government and General Employees' Union

Re: Nurses

Subject to available funding and/or legislation, LPN classifications will have a "metoo" to the LPN Classification (in the 2080 annual hours table) in the WRHA MNU agreement and will have current wages adjusted in accordance with the percentages and effective dates in the central table MNU agreements.

Subject to available funding, RN classifications will have a "me-too" to the Nurse 2 Classification in the 2080 annual hours table) in the WRHA MNU agreement and will have current wages adjusted in accordance with the percentages and effective dates in the central table MNU agreements.

Subject to available funding, Nurse Practitioner classifications will have a "me-too" to the Nurse Practitioner Classification (in the 2080 annual hours table) in the WRHA MNU agreement and will have current wages adjusted in accordance with the percentages and effective dates in the central table MNU agreements.

Nurses currently employed with Main Street Project will be red circled in their current 1885 or 2015 annual hour salary scales.

In this case red circling is defined as: an incumbent is placed at a hourly rate that is above their current salary scale. The salary for the incumbent remains red-circled until the top of the salary scale equals the red-circled rate. As long as the incumbent is red-circled above the top of the salary scale basic rate adjustments do not apply.

On behalf of The Main Street
Project Incorporated

On behalf of Manitoba Government and General Employees' Union

On behalf of Manitoba Government and General Hmployees' Union

On behalf of Manitoba Government and General Employees' Union

between

The Main Street Project Incorporated

and

Manitoba Government and General Employees' Union

Re: 12 Hour Shifts - Nurses

The parties agree to vary the terms and conditions of the Collective Agreement. The parties agree that the terms and conditions apply only to the Nurses.

The Employer acknowledges it must seek consent/agreement of the Union prior to seeking similar extension of shift duration for any other employees in classifications or positions not specified herein.

The Union agrees that these employees as specified above shall work a regular shift of twelve (12) hours in duration and be compensated at straight time for those twelve hour shifts.

The purpose of this Memorandum is to provide a standardized benefit administration for non-standard shift, and provide a permanent and stable shift pattern for the applicable employees.

Any terms and conditions of the current Collective Agreement not specifically referenced in this Memorandum of Agreement shall continue to apply to employees working the twelve (12) hour shift schedules.

Hours of Work

The regular workday shall consist of twelve and a half (12.5) hours including an unpaid thirty (30) minute meal period and two paid twenty (2) minute rest periods.

Daily overtime shall be paid after the normal scheduled daily hours (e.g. 12-hour shifts are overtime after 12 hours; 8-hour shifts are overtime after 8 hours). An employee who is required to work overtime on a regular work day is entitled to compensation at time and one-half (1.5x) for all overtime worked. Otherwise all other provisions of Article 22 apply.

Leaves

It is understood that wherever one (1) day is mentioned in the Collective Agreement, it shall be equivalent to one twelve (12) hour shift or one eight (8) hour shift, whichever was scheduled on the day the leave is to be taken.

Sick Leave

Sick Leave shall be converted to hours in accordance with the following:

- 1. For the purposes of sick leave accrual one complete month of service is 174 paid hours (40x52/12).
- 2. $1\frac{1}{4}$ working days per complete month of service (15 days) x 8 = 120 hours.

Where an employee is absent due to illness, sick leave credits shall be reduced by the number of scheduled hours the employee was absent.

Vacation Leave

- 1. Vacation Leave shall be converted to hours in accordance with the following:
 - a) $1\frac{1}{4}$ working days per complete month of service (15 days) x 8 = 120 hours
 - b) 12/3 working days per complete month of service (20 days) x 8 = 160 hours
 - c) 2 1/12 working days per complete month of service (25 days) x 8 = 200 hours
 - d) $2\frac{1}{2}$ working days per complete month of service (30 days) x 8 = 240 hours

An employee shall have their vacation entitlement reduced by the total number of hours that they would have been scheduled to work while on vacation. Signed this day of June, 2023.

On behalf of The Main Street
Project Incorporated

On behalf of Manitoba Government and General Employees' Union

On behalf of Manitoba Government and General Hmployees' Union

On behalf of Manitoba Government and General Employees' Union

between

The Main Street Project Incorporated and

Manitoba Government and General Employees' Union

Re: Staff Volunteers

The parties recognize the importance and necessity of volunteer work performed at MSP. Staff of the MSP can volunteer to work on **their** own time. The parties agree that staff who choose to volunteer will do so on **their** own volition. When staff volunteer, such work will not be considered paid time or accrue benefits. Such work will not violate the terms and conditions of the Collective Agreement.

On behalf of The Main Street
Project Incorporated

On behalf of The Main Street
Project Incorporated

On behalf of Manitoba Government and General Employees' Union

On behalf of Manitoba Government and General Employees' Union

On behalf of Manitoba Government and General Employees' Union

between

The Main Street Project Incorporated

and

Manitoba Government and General Employees' Union

Personal Time Re:

The parties will explore the option of a one (1) year pilot project of all sick time being converted to personal time.

The Employer commits to meeting with the union to discuss and mutually agree upon the terms of the pilot including the definition of personal time, notice period of personal time use, and right of the Employer in suspected instances of abuse.

Until the terms of the pilot are agreed upon by both parties the current sick leave articles are in place.

Signed this day of , 2023.

On behalf of The Main Street

Project Incorporated

and General Employees' Union

behalf of The Main Street

Project Incorporated

and General Employees' Union

On behalf of Manitoba Government

On behalf of Manitoba Government and General Employees' Union

between

The Main Street Project Incorporated

and

Manitoba Government and General Employees' Union

Re: Peer Advocates

Within one (1) year of ratification of the Collective Agreement the parties shall enter into discussions to explore including Peer Advocates in the Collective Agreement.

On behalf of The Main Street
Project Incorporated
On behalf of Manitoba Government and General Employees' Union
On behalf of Manitoba Government and General Employees' Union
On behalf of Manitoba Government and General Employees' Union
On behalf of Manitoba Government and General Employees' Union

Appendix "A" - Pay Plans

April 1, 2019 to Mar 31 2021 (0% Increase)

		Step 1	Step 2	Step 3	Step 4	Step 5	Step
Support Worker (Integrated/addictions/residential)	Hourly	18.504	19.058	19.629	20.218	20.824	
Activity Worker	Monthly	3,207.30	3,303.32	3,402.29	3,504.39	3,609.42	
Tenant Support Worker	Annual	38,487.60	39,639.84	40,827.48	42,052.68	43,313.04	
(Green circled Employees ONLY)	Hourly						21.451
Support Worker (Integrated/addictions/residential)	Monthly						3,718.10
	Annual						44,617.20
(Green circled Employees ONLY)	Hourly				21.245	21.882	22.539
Mainstay Coordinator	Monthly				3,682.40	3,792.81	3,906.68
	Annual				44,188.80	45,513.72	46,880.16
Homeless Outreach Team Mentor	Hourly	20.714	21.335	21.975	22.634	23.313	
Case Manager (TT)	Monthly	3,590.36	3,698.00	3,808.93	3,923.15	4,040.84	
Intake Worker	Annual	43,084.32	44,376.00	45,707.16	47,077.80	48,490.08	
(Green circled Employees ONLY)	Hourly						24.012
Gap Worker	Monthly						4,162.00
	Annual						49,944.00
Food Service Cook	Hourly	16.628	17.126	17.640	18.170	18.715	
laintenance Worker	Monthly	2,882.13	2,968.45	3,057.54	3,149.41	3,243.87	
	Annual	34,585.56	35,621.40	36,690.48	37,792.92	38,926.44	
(Green circled Employees ONLY)	Hourly						19.276
Cook	Monthly						3,341.11
	Annual						40,093.32
Occupational Therapist	Hourly	28.709	29.592	30.507	31.455		
	Monthly	4,976.13	5,129.18	5,287.78	5,452.10		
	Annual	59,713.56	61,550.16	63,453.36	65,425.20		
Case Worker	Hourly	23.990	25.041	25.500			
Addictions Counselor	Monthly	4,158.19	4,340.36	4,419.92			
	Annual	49,898.28	52,084.32	53,039.04			
Shift Supervisor	Hourly	23.440	24.142	24.867	25.612		
Sint Supervisor	Monthly	4,062.86	4,184.53	4,310.20	4,439.33		
	Annual	48,754.32	50,214.36	51,722.40	53,271.96		
Per MOU - Re: Nurses to follow the MNU 2015 hours annually scales							
Licensed Practical Nurse							
Nurse II							
Community Nurse Advocate							

April 1, 2021 (2.30%)

		Step 1	Step 2	Step 3	Step 4	Step 5	Step 6
Support Worker (Integrated/addictions/residential)	Hourly	18.929	19.496	20.080	20.683	21.303	
Activity Worker	Monthly	3,281.07	3,379.30	3,480.54	3,584.99	3,692.44	
Tenant Support Worker	Annual	39,372.81	40,551.56	41,766.51	43,019.89	44,309.24	
(Green circled Employees ONLY)	Hourly						21.944
Support Worker (Integrated/addictions/residential)	Monthly						3,803.62
	Annual						45,643.40
(Green circled Employees ONLY)	Hourly				21.733	22.385	23.057
Mainstay Coordinator	Monthly				3,767.10	3,880.05	3,996.53
Manusay Coordinator	Annual				45,205.14	46,560.54	47,958.40
Homeless Outreach Team Mentor	Hourly	21.190	21.825	22.480	23.154	23.849	
Case Manager (TT)	Monthly	3,672.94	3,783.05	3,896.54	4,013.38	4,133.78	
Intake Worker	Annual	44,075.26	45,396.65	46,758.42	48,160.59	49,605.35	
(Green circled Employees ONLY)	Hourly						24.564
Gap Worker	Monthly						4,257.73
	Annual						51,092.71
Food Service Cook	Hourly	17.010	17.520	18.045	18.588	19.145	
Maintenance Worker	Monthly	2,948.42	3,036.72	3,127.86	3,221.85	3,318.48	
Maintenance Worker	Annual	35,381.03	36,440.69	37,534.36	38,662.16	39,821.75	
(Green circled Employees ONLY)	Hourly						19.719
Cook	Monthly						3,417.96
	Annual						41,015.47
Occupational Therapist	Hourly	29.370	30.273	31.209	32.179		
	Monthly	5,090.58	5,247.15	5,409.40	5,577.50		
	Annual	61,086.97	62,965.81	64,912.79	66,929.98		
Case Worker	Hourly	24.541	25.616	26.086			
Addictions Counselor	Monthly	4,253.83	4,440.19	4,521.58			
Addictions Counselor	Annual	51,045.94	53,282.26	54,258.94			
Shift Supervisor	Hourly	23.979	24.697	25.438	26.201		
	Monthly	4,156.31	4,280.77	4,409.34	4,541.44		
	Annual	49,875.67	51,369.29	52,912.02	54,497.22		
Per MOU - Re: Nurses to follow the MNU 2015 hours annually scales							
Licensed Practical Nurse							
Nurse II							
Community Nurse Advocate							

April 1, 2022 (1.70%)

		Step 1	Step 2	Step 3	Step 4	Step 5	Step 6
Support Worker (Integrated/addictions/residential)	Hourly	19.251	19.827	20.421	21.034	21.665	
Activity Worker	Monthly	3,336.85	3,436.75	3,539.71	3,645.94	3,755.21	
Tenant Support Worker	Annual	40,042.15	41,240.94	42,476.54	43,751.23	45,062.50	
(Green circled Employees ONLY)	Hourly						22.317
Support Worker (Integrated/addictions/residential)	Monthly						3,868.28
	Annual						46,419.34
(Green circled Employees ONLY)	Hourly				22.103	22.765	23.449
Mainstay Coordinator	Monthly				3,831.14	3,946.01	4,064.47
intaliistay coordinator	Annual				45,973.63	47,352.07	48,773.69
Homeless Outreach Team Mentor	Hourly	21.550	22.196	22.862	23.548	24.254	
Case Manager (TT)	Monthly	3,735.38	3,847.37	3,962.78	4,081.61	4,204.05	
Intake Worker	Annual	44,824.54	46,168.39	47,553.31	48,979.32	50,448.64	
(Green circled Employees ONLY)	Hourly						24.981
Gap Worker	Monthly						4,330.11
	Annual						51,961.29
Food Service Cook	Hourly	17.299	17.817	18.352	18.904	19.471	
Aaintenance Worker	Monthly	2,998.54	3,088.35	3,181.04	3,276.62	3,374.89	
Maintenance Worker	Annual	35,982.51	37,060.18	38,172.44	39,319.42	40,498.72	
		·					
(Green circled Employees ONLY)	Hourly						20.054
Cook	Monthly						3,476.06
	Annual						41,712.73
Occupational Therapist	Hourly	29.869	30.788	31.740	32.726		
	Monthly	5,177.12	5,336.35	5,501.36	5,672.32		
	Annual	62,125.45	64,036.23	66,016.31	68,067.79		
Case Worker	Hourly	24.959	26.052	26.529			
Addictions Counselor	Monthly	4,326.14	4,515.67	4,598.45			
Addictions Counselor	Annual	51,913.72	54,188.06	55,181.34			
Shift Supervisor	Hourly	24.386	25.117	25.871	26.646		
	Monthly	4,226.96	4,353.55	4,484.29	4,618.64		
	Annual	50,723.56	52,242.57	53,811.52	55,423.67		
Per MOU - Re: Nurses to follow the MNU 2015 hours annually scales							
Licensed Practical Nurse							
Nurse II							
Community Nurse Advocate							

66

April 1, 2023 (2.0%)

		Step 1	Step 2	Step 3	Step 4	Step 5	Step 6	10 Year	20 Yea
Support Worker (Integrated/addictions/residential),	Hourly	19.636	20.224	20.830	21.455	22.098		22.761	23.444
Activity Worker, Tenant Support Worker,	Monthly	3,403.58	3,505.48	3,610.51	3,718.85	3,830.31		3,945.22	4,063.5
Food Service Cook, Maintenance Worker	Annual	40,842.99	42,065.76	43,326.07	44,626.25	45,963.75		47,342.66	48,762.94
(Green circled Employees ONLY)	Hourly						22.763	23.446	24.150
Support Worker (Integrated/addictions/residential)	Monthly						3,945.64	4,064.01	4,185.9
	Annual						47,347.73	48,768.16	50,231.20
(Green circled Employees ONLY)	Hourly						25.481	26.245	27.033
Gap Worker	Monthly						4,416.71	4,549.21	4,685.6
•	Annual						53,000.52	54,590.54	56,228.26
(Green circled Employees ONLY)	Hourly						20.455	21.069	21.701
Cook	Monthly						3,545.58	3,651.95	3,761.5
	Annual						42,546.98	43,823.39	45,138.09
Occupational Therapist	Hourly	30.466	31.403	32.374	33.380			34.381	35.412
	Monthly	5,280.66	5,443.08	5,611.39	5,785.76			5,959.34	6,138.1
	Annual	63,367.96	65,316.95	67,336.64	69,429.15			71,512.02	73,657.38
Case Manager	Hourly	25.458	26.573	27.060				27.872	28.708
Addictions Counselor	Monthly	4,412.67	4,605.99	4,690.41				4,831.13	4,976.0
	Annual	52,951.99	55,271.82	56,284.97				57,973.52	59,712.73
Shift Supervisor	Hourly	24.874	25.619	26.388	27.179			27.994	28.834
	Monthly	4,311.50	4,440.62	4,573.98	4,711.01			4,852.34	4,997.9
	Annual	51,738.03	53,287.42	54,887.75	56,532.14			58,228.10	59,974.94
Per MOU - Re: Nurses to follow the MNU 2015 hours annually scales									
Licensed Practical Nurse									
Nurse II									
Community Nurse Advocate									
Nurse II (Red Circle PIO)	Hourly	46.260							
	Monthly	8,018.40							
	Annual	96,220.80							
Nurse Practitioner (Red Circle PIO)	Hourly	62.958							
(new ander 10)	Monthly	10,912.72							
	Annual	130,952.64							

67 **April 1, 2024 (2.0%)**

		Step 1	Step 2	Step 3	Step 4	Step 5	Step 6	10 Year	20 Yea
Support Worker (Integrated/addictions/residential),	Hourly	20.029	20.628	21.246	21.884	22.540		23.216	23.913
Activity Worker, Tenant Support Worker,	Monthly	3,471.65	3,575.59	3,682.72	3,793.23	3,906.92		4,024.13	4,144.8
Food Service Cook, Maintenance Worker	Annual	41,659.85	42,907.08	44,192.59	45,518.78	46,883.03		48,289.51	49,738.20
(Green circled Employees ONLY)	Hourly						23.219	23.915	24.633
Support Worker (Integrated/addictions/residential)	Monthly						4,024.56	4,145.29	4,269.6
	Annual						48,294.68	49,743.52	51,235.82
(Green circled Employees ONLY)	Hourly						25.991	26.770	27.573
Gap Worker	Monthly						4,505.04	4,640.20	4,779.40
	Annual						54,060.53	55,682.35	57,352.83
(Green circled Employees ONLY)	Hourly						20.864	21.490	22.135
Cook	Monthly						3,616.49	3,724.99	3,836.74
	Annual						43,397.92	44,699.86	46,040.8
Occupational Therapist	Hourly	31.076	32.031	33.022	34.048			35.068	36.120
	Monthly	5,386.28	5,551.94	5,723.61	5,901.48			6,078.52	6,260.88
	Annual	64,635.32	66,623.29	68,683.37	70,817.73			72,942.26	75,130.5
Case Manager	Hourly	25.967	27.104	27.601				28.429	29.282
Addictions Counselor	Monthly	4,500.92	4,698.11	4,784.22				4,927.75	5,075.58
	Annual	54,011.03	56,377.26	57,410.67				59,132.99	60,906.98
Shift Supervisor	Hourly	25.372	26.131	26.916	27.722			28.554	29.411
	Monthly	4,397.73	4,529.43	4,665.46	4,805.23			4,949.39	5,097.87
	Annual	52,772.79	54,353.17	55,985.51	57,662.78			59,392.66	61,174.44
Per MOU - Re: Nurses to follow the MNU 2015 hours annually scales									
Licensed Practical Nurse									
Nurse II									
Community Nurse Advocate									
Nurse II (Red Circle PIO)	Hourly	46.260							
	Monthly	8,018.40							
	Annual	96,220.80							
Nurse Practitioner (Red Circle PIO)	Hourly	62.958							
	Monthly	10,912.72							
	Annual	130,952.64							

68

April 1, 2025 (2.25%)

		Step 1	Step 2	Step 3	Step 4	Step 5	Step 6	10 Year	20 Year
Support Worker (Integrated/addictions/residential),	Hourly	20.479	21.093	21.724	22.376	23.047		23.738	24.451
Activity Worker, Tenant Support Worker,	Monthly	3,549.77	3,656.04	3,765.58	3,878.58	3,994.83		4,114.67	4,238.11
Food Service Cook, Maintenance Worker	Annual	42,597.20	43,872.49	45,186.92	46,542.95	47,937.90		49,376.02	50,857.31
(Green circled Employees ONLY)	Hourly						23.741	24.453	25.187
Support Worker (Integrated/addictions/residential)	Monthly						4,115.11	4,238.56	4,365.72
	Annual						49,381.31	50,862.75	52,388.63
(Green circled Employees ONLY)	Hourly						26.575	27.373	28.194
Gap Worker	Monthly						4,606.41	4,744.60	4,886.94
	Annual						55,276.89	56,935.20	58,643.27
(Green circled Employees ONLY)	Hourly						21.334	21.974	22.633
Cook	Monthly						3,697.86	3,808.80	3,923.06
	Annual						44,374.37	45,705.61	47,076.77
Occupational Therapist	Hourly	31.775	32.752	33.765	34.814			35.857	36.933
	Monthly	5,507.47	5,676.86	5,852.40	6,034.26			6,215.29	6,401.75
	Annual	66,089.61	68,122.31	70,228.75	72,411.13			74,583.46	76,820.97
Case Manager	Hourly	26.551	27.714	28.222				29.069	29.941
Addictions Counselor	Monthly	4,602.19	4,803.81	4,891.87				5,038.62	5,189.78
	Annual	55,226.28	57,645.75	58,702.41				60,463.48	62,277.39
Shift Supervisor	Hourly	25.942	26.719	27.522	28.346			29.197	30.073
	Monthly	4,496.68	4,631.34	4,770.43	4,913.35			5,060.75	5,212.57
	Annual	53,960.18	55,576.12	57,245.18	58,960.19			60,728.99	62,550.86
Per MOU - Re: Nurses to follow the MNU 2015 hours annually scales									
Licensed Practical Nurse									
Nurse II									
Community Nurse Advocate									
Nurse II (Red Circle PIO)	Hourly	46.260							
	Monthly	8,018.40							
	Annual	96,220.80							
Nurse Practitioner (Red Circle PIO)	Hourly	62.958							
Transcribed free entre (19)	Monthly	10,912.72							
	Annual	130,952.64							

Appendix "B"

Application of the Collective Agreement to Casual Workers

It is agreed that the terms and condition of the Collective Agreement between the parties shall not apply to **Casual Workers** except as hereinafter provided for:

- 1. A **Casual Worker** means a person called occasionally by the Employer to supplement regular staff coverage or to replace an absent employee and are not guaranteed any specific number of hours of work.
- 2. A **Casual Worker** shall receive vacation pay calculated at the rate of six percent (6%) of hours worked in a biweekly period.
- 3. A **Casual Worker** shall be paid as per the classification **of their position** in accordance with Appendix "A"
 - The **Casual Worker** shall be entitled to receive increments on the same basis as a part-time employee in accordance with Article **36**:06. Such increment shall be applied on the first day of the first pay period upon becoming eligible for an increment.
- 4. A **Casual Worker** shall be entitled to shift and weekend premiums as outlined in Article 31:01
- 5. A **Casual Worker** required to work on a Recognized Holiday, as specified in Article 20:01, shall be paid at the rate of time and one-half (1½ x) their basic rate of pay.
- 6. A **Casual Worker** shall be entitled to pay for a Recognized Holiday specified in Article 20:01 and will be paid **five point three eight percent (5.38%)** of their basic pay in lieu of paid time off on a Recognized Holiday. Such holiday pay shall be calculated on all paid hours (excluding overtime) and shall be included in each regular biweekly pay.
- 7. A **Casual Worker** shall be entitled to compensation for overtime worked at the rate of one and one half times (1 ½ x) for hours worked in excess of a scheduled eight (8) hour shift, or in excess of **eighty (80)** hours in a **biweekly pay period**.
- 8. The Employer agrees to deduct and remit Union dues from **Casual Workers** and remit the dues in accordance with Article 4:01. In the event that no wage payment is made during any biweekly period, the Employer shall have no responsibility to deduct and remit dues for that period.

- 9. A **Casual Worker** is not guaranteed any specific number of hours of work. The provision of Article 21:01 respecting meal periods and rest periods shall apply to **Casual Workers**.
- 10. A **Casual Worker** reporting for work as requested by the Employer and finding no work available shall be paid three (3) hours pay at their basic rate of pay.
- 11. Article 7 Grievance Procedure and Arbitration Procedure of the Collective Agreement shall apply to **Casual Workers** only in respect to matters specifically referenced in this Appendix and matters involving discipline and discharge.
- 12. A **Casual Worker** shall be entitled to retroactive salary increases on the same basis as full-time and part-time employees.
- 13. A **Casual Worker** shall not accrue seniority.
- 14. Article 34 Coverage for Incidental Costs shall apply to **Casual Workers**.
- 15. Article 26 Acting Status, **Casual Workers** are not eligible to be assigned Acting Status.
- 16. Management reserves the right to terminate Casual Workers that have not worked a shift in the span of three (3) months without valid reason.
- 17. When an employee moves from a permanent position to Casual Worker, they are no longer entitled to any previously accrued sick leave credits.